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 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

 
************************************** 

 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,        Crim. No. 12-CR-569 (TJM) 
    
  v.      TRIAL MEMORANDUM       
        OF THE UNITED STATES 
JAMES GRAY, SR.,        
WILLIAM ROGER JOCK,  
THOMAS ANGUS SQUARE, 
   also known as “Salt,” 
ANTHONY LAUGHING, SR. AND    
JOSEPH HIGHT,     
 
   Defendants. 
      

************************************** 
 

 The United States of America, by and through Richard S. Hartunian, the United States 

Attorney for the Northern District of New York, Elizabeth Horsman and Miroslav Lovric, of 

counsel, hereby submits its trial memorandum. 

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 On December 12, 2012, the grand jury in Plattsburgh, New York, returned a two-count 

Indictment charging the defendants in Count 1 with Operation of an Illegal Gambling Business, 

in violation of Title 18 United States Code, Sections 1955 and Section 2, and in Count 2 with 

Transportation, Possession, and Use of Gambling Devices Within Indian Country, in violation of 

Title 15 United States Code, Sections 1175(a) and 1176, and Title 18 United States Code, 

Section 2.  Defendant Square is incarcerated pending trial.  Defendant Gray is a fugitive and 

believed to be in Canada. 
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The trial will begin on Tuesday, October 29, 2013.  The government anticipates that the 

trial will require eight to nine trial days (two trial weeks). 

II. THE STATUTES AND ELEMENTS OF THE CHARGED OFFENSES  

A. The Statutes 

 Count 1 

 Title 18 United States Code, Section 1955, states, in pertinent part: 

 (a) Whoever conducts, finances, manages, supervises, directs, or owns all or 
 part of an illegal gambling business shall be fined under this title or imprisoned 
 not more than five years, or both. 
 

   (b) As used in this section –  
 
  (1)   "illegal gambling business" means a gambling business which 
 
   (i)   is a violation of the law of a State or political subdivision in which 
     it is conducted; 
 
   (ii)   involves five or more persons who conduct, finance, manage, 
     supervise, direct, or own all or part of such business; and 
 
   (iii)   has been or remains in substantially continuous operation for a 
     period in excess of thirty days or has a gross revenue of $2,000 in 
     any single day. 
 
"Gambling" includes but is not limited to "pool-selling, bookmaking, maintaining slot machines, 

roulette wheels or dice tables, and conducting lotteries, policy, bolita or numbers games, or 

selling chances therein."  Title 18 United States Code, Section 1955(b)(2).  Here the government 

will prove that the gambling violated New York State Penal Law Sections 225.05 (promoting 

gambling) and 225.30 (possession of gambling devices). 

 The defendants are also charged in both Count 1 and Count 2 with aiding and abetting 

under Title 18 United States Code, Section 2, which states in pertinent part: 
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 (a)   Whoever commits an offense against the United States or aids, abets, counsels,  
  commands, induces or procures its commission, is punishable as a principal. 
  
 (b) Whoever willfully causes an act to be done which if directly performed by him or  
  another would be an offense against the United States, is punishable as a 
   principal. 
 
 Count 2 
 
 Title 15 United States Code, Section 1175(a), subject of Count 2, states in pertinent part: 
 
  It shall be unlawful to manufacture, recondition, repair, sell, transport, possess, or 
 use any gambling device in the District of Columbia, in any possession of the United 
 States, within Indian country as defined in section 1151 of Title 18 or within the special 
 maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United States as defined in section 7 of Title 
 18, including on a vessel documented under chapter 121 of Title 46 or documented under 
 the laws of a foreign country. 
 
As stated above, Count 2 of the Indictment also alleges aiding and abetting under Title 18 United 

States Code, Section 2. 

B. The Elements and Key Definitions 

 Count 1 
 
 The government must prove each of the following elements beyond a reasonable doubt: 

 First, five or more persons knowingly conducted or financed or managed or 

 supervised or directed or owned, all or part of a gambling business;  

 Second, the defendant either was one of those five persons or the defendant 

 aided and abetted one or more of those five persons;    

 Third, the gambling business was conducted in, and violated the law of, the state 

 of New York; and 
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 Fourth, the gambling business was in substantially continuous operation for more 

 than 30 days or had gross revenue of $2,000 or more on any one day.1 

The government need only prove that the defendants each knowingly conducted, financed, 

managed or operated the gambling business to satisfy the first element, and is not required to 

prove that they knew that it violated state law.2 

 The definitions and terms to be used with this statute are contained in the government's 

proposed jury instructions 47 through 53.  One of the principal elements requires that the 

gambling business violated state law.   The applicable New York state law and definitions are 

below set forth. 

 New York State Penal Law Section 225.05 (promoting gambling) states, in pertinent part: 

  A person is guilty of promoting gambling in the second degree when he 
  knowingly advances or profits from unlawful gambling activity. 

 New York State Penal Law Section 225.30 (possession of gambling devices) states, in 

pertinent part: 

  a. A  person  is guilty of possession of a gambling device when, with 
    knowledge of the character thereof, he or she manufactures, sells, transports, 
   places or possesses, or conducts or negotiates any transaction affecting or 
   designed to affect ownership, custody or use of: 
 
      1. A slot machine, unless such possession is permitted pursuant to article\ 
    nine-A of the general municipal law; or 
                                                      
1 Tenth Circuit Criminal Pattern Jury Instruction 2.72 (Illegal Gambling Business) (modified for this 
case); 18 U.S.C. §1955 and 18 U.S.C. §2. 
  
2  ATo be convicted under this provision ... a defendant need not know that the gambling business involved 
five or more people, remained in operation for thirty days, or was violative of state law.@  United States v. 
O=Brien, 131 F.3d 1428, 1430 (10th Cir. 1997) (emphasis added).   See also United States v. Hawes, 529 
F.2d 472, 481 (5th Cir. 1976) (intent to violate state law is not necessary element of section 1955).  AThe 
statute requires only a general criminal intent, which is satisfied whenever the defendant knowingly does 
an act made unlawful by the statute.@ O=Brien, 131 F.3d at 1430 (citing United States v. Conley, 37 F.3d 
970, 977 (3d Cir.1994); United States v. Cyprian, 23 F.3d 1189, 1199 (7th Cir.1994); Hawes, 529 F.2d at 
481). 
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      2. Any other gambling device, believing that the same is to be used in 
     the advancement of unlawful gambling activity; or 
 
      3. A coin operated gambling device with intent to use such device in the 
   advancement of unlawful gambling activity. 
 
This statute provides for a defense where possession of the gambling devices is pursuant to a 

gaming compact under the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act.  New York State Penal Law Section 

225.30(b).  That defense is not available here under the law of the case doctrine.  The Honorable 

David N. Hurd has already concluded "the individual defendants lack standing to assert treaty or 

statutory rights granted to an Indian tribe."  (Dkt. 48 at 3).  In addition, as defendant Hight 

conceded, "[t]he People of the Longhouse are not themselves a federally recognized Indian Tribe 

independent of the St. Regis Mohawk Tribe."  (Dkt. 100 at 3, quoting Def.'s Mem. Supp. 

Dismiss at 9).  As a result, Judge Hurd concluded that "the people of the Longhouse were 

operating outside the provisions of the IGRA and [they] cannot invoke the act's exclusions."         

Id. at 3. 

 New York State Penal Law Section 225.00 (Gambling offenses; definitions of terms) 

further adds, in pertinent part: 

  The following definitions are applicable to this article: 

    1. "Contest of chance" means any contest, game, gaming scheme or gaming 
    device in which the outcome depends in a material degree upon an 
   element of chance, notwithstanding that skill of the contestants may also 
    be a factor therein. 
 
    2. "Gambling." A person engages in gambling when he stakes or risks  
   something of value upon the outcome of a contest of chance or a future 
   contingent event not under his control or influence, upon an agreement 
   or understanding that he will receive something of value in the event of 
   a certain outcome. 
 
     . . . 

Case 8:12-cr-00569-TJM   Document 154   Filed 10/16/13   Page 5 of 24



 
 
 

6 
 
 
 

 
    4.  "Advance gambling activity." A person "advances gambling activity"  
   when, acting other than as a player, he engages in conduct which 
   materially aids any form of gambling activity. Such conduct includes but 
   is not limited to conduct directed toward the creation or establishment of 
    the particular game, contest, scheme, device or activity involved, toward  
   the acquisition or maintenance of premises, paraphernalia, equipment or  
   apparatus therefor, toward the solicitation or inducement of persons to  
   participate therein, toward the actual conduct of the playing phases  
   thereof, toward the arrangement of any of its financial or recording phases, 
   or toward any other phase of its operation. One advances gambling  
   activity when, having substantial proprietary or other authoritative control  
   over premises being used with his knowledge for purposes of gambling  
   activity, he permits such to occur or continue or makes no effort to prevent 
   its occurrence or continuation. 
 
     . . . 
 
    6. "Something of value" means any money or property, any token, object 
   or article exchangeable for money or property, or any form of credit or 
   promise directly or indirectly contemplating transfer of money or 
   property or of any interest therein, or involving extension of a service,  
   entertainment or a privilege of playing at a game or scheme without  
   charge. 
 
    7. "Gambling device" means any device, machine, paraphernalia or   
   equipment which is used or usable in the playing phases of any gambling 
   activity, whether such activity consists of gambling between persons or  
   gambling by a person involving the playing of a machine.   
 
   . . . 
 
    7-a.  A "coin operated gambling device" means a gambling device which 
   operates as a result of the insertion of something of value. A device 
   designed, constructed or readily adaptable or convertible for such use is a  
   coin operated gambling device notwithstanding the fact that it may 
   require adjustment, manipulation or repair in order to operate as such. 
    
   . . . 
 
    8. "Slot machine" means a gambling device which, as a result of the insertion  
   of a coin or other object, operates, either completely automatically or with  
   the aid of some physical act by the player, in such manner that, depending  
   upon elements of chance, it may eject something of value. A device so  
   constructed, or readily adaptable or convertible to such use, is no less a  
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   slot machine because it is not in working order or because some   
   mechanical act of manipulation or repair is required to accomplish its  
   adaptation, conversion or workability. Nor is it any less a slot machine   
   because, apart from its use or adaptability as such, it may also sell or  
   deliver something of value on a basis other than chance. A machine which 
   sells items of merchandise which are of equivalent value, is not a slot  
   machine merely because such  items differ from each other in composition, 
   size, shape or color. 
      
The New York state definition of a "slot machine" in subsection (8), above, is more conventional 

and broad than the federal definition applicable to Count 2. 

 Count 2 
 
 Federal definitions of a gambling device apply to Count 2.  For the jury to find the 

defendants guilty of Count 2, the government must prove each of the following elements beyond 

a reasonable doubt. 

  First, a person did knowingly possess or use or transport, or cause the 

 transportation of, gambling devices within Indian country; and 

  Second, defendant either was that person, or defendant aided and abetted one or 

 more such persons, or defendant willfully caused another to act.3 

As a matter of law, the Saint Regis Mohawk Reservation is "Indian Country."4  The government 

requests in its Proposed Jury Instruction 56 that the Court so instruct the jury.  

 Title 15 United States Code, Section 1171(a) defines a "gambling device" and includes: 

                                                      
3  Title 15 United States Code, Section 1175(a). 
 
4  15 USC §§1175 & 1176 (Johnson Act) and 18 USC §2; United States v. Cook, 922 F.2d 1026, 1031-32 
(1991) (affirming Hon. Neal P. McCurn's holding that the Saint Regis Mohawk Reservation is "Indian 
Country").  Determinations of whether the site of an offense is Indian country are left for the court alone.  
United States v. Cook, at 1131; United States v. Sohappy, 770 F.2d 816, 822 n.6 (9th Cir. 1985); United 
States v. Deon, 656 F.2d 354, 357 (8th Cir. 1981); United States v. Morgan, 614 F.2d 166, 170-71 (8th 
Cir. 1980).   
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  (2) any other machine or mechanical device (including, but not limited to, roulette  
  wheels and similar devices) designed and manufactured primarily for use in  
  connection with gambling, and  
 
  (A) which when operated may deliver, as the result of the application of  
   an element of chance, any money or property, or  
 
  (B)  by the operation of which a person may become entitled to receive, as 
    the result of the application of an element of chance, any money or  
   property; or 
 
  (C) any subassembly or essential part intended to be used in connection with  
   any such machine or mechanical device, but which is not attached to any  
   such machine or mechanical device as a constituent part. 
 
Here, the government alleges that the illegal gambling devices found in and operated at Three 

Feathers Casino are proscribed by this provision.5 

III. STATEMENT OF THE EVIDENCE 
 

 The government intends to prove its case through the testimony of lay, expert and law 

enforcement witnesses; certified and uncertified business records received in the investigation; 

undercover and overt digital video recording; photographic surveillance records; and business 

records and other materials seized on December 18, 2012, at the premises of Three Feathers 

Casino, 439 State Route 37, Hogansburg, New York. 

 There is overwhelming evidence of a gambling operation, and that it was illegal under the 

laws of the State of New York, and the Johnson Act.  The defendants are each linked to the 

                                                      
5   Subsection (1) of this statute defines a so-called "slot machine" as such or any other machine or 
mechanical device an essential part of which is a drum or reel with insignia thereon, and  (A) which when 
operated may deliver, as the result of the application of an element of chance, any money or property, or 
(B) by the operation of which a person may become entitled to receive, as the result of the application of 
an element of chance, any money or property.  To its knowledge, the government did not find within 
Three Feathers Casino gambling devices with the mechanical attributes to meet the definition of a "slot 
machine" under subsection (1). 
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operation through eyewitness testimony, their own statements orally or in email, seized business 

records of the illegal casino, and the records of outside vendors and businesses. 

A. Summary of the Government's Case 

 1. Background Regarding Gambling Regulation  

 The gambling industry in the United States is highly regulated both on and off Indian 

lands.  Every state that allows gambling of some kind has a regulatory board or commission.  In 

New York, for example, the regulatory agency is the New York State Gaming Commission 

(formerly the State Racing and Wagering Board).  The Indian Gaming Regulatory Act (IGRA) is 

the framework for regulation of gambling on Indian lands.  25 U.S.C. §2701 et seq.  IGRA's 

provisions include the regulation of Indian gambling (or gaming, when sanctioned by IGRA) 

through the National Indian Gaming Commission (NIGC).  25 U.S.C. §§2703-2704.  The 

congressionally-declared purposes of IGRA include the promotion of tribal economic 

development and self-sufficiency; to shield the tribes from the influences of organized crime to 

ensure the Indian tribe is the primary beneficiary of the gambling operation; and to declare that 

the establishment of independent federal regulatory authority and federal standards are necessary 

to meet congressional concerns regarding gaming and generation of tribal revenue.  25 U.S.C. 

§2702.   

 Only Indian tribal governments that are recognized by the United States Department of 

the Interior, Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA), may engage in or regulate gambling on Indian lands 

recognized by the Department of the Interior according to IGRA and NIGC regulations.  

Congress has also mandated that Indian gambling revenue be used for specific community 

purposes.  A list of the tribal governments authorized as such is listed in the Federal Register and 

available on the NIGC and other federal agency websites.   
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 2. The Saint Regis Mohawk Tribe and Gambling/Gaming  

 The Saint Regis Mohawk Tribe ("Tribe") is the federally-recognized tribe in the area of 

Hogansburg/Akwesasne, New York.  The Saint Regis Mohawk Tribe and the State of New York 

in 1993 entered into a compact known as the "Tribal-State Compact" ("Compact").  The 

Compact allows the Tribe to engage in gambling activities within its lands subject to a federally 

approved-Tribal gambling ordinance, and federal and state oversight.  The Secretary of the 

Interior also approved the Tribal-State Compact and its amendments in 1999.  As a result of the 

Compact, New York amended its gambling laws to allow gambling by federally-recognized 

Indian tribes or nations consistent with the tribal state compact, federal regulation, and tribal self-

regulation overseen by the NIGC.  The Tribe has a duly-enacted gaming ordinance which 

regulates gambling or gaming on tribal lands.  The NIGC Chairman approved the Tribal Gaming 

Ordinance in 1994 and amendments since 1994.  The Tribe regulates gambling on its lands 

through the Saint Regis Mohawk Tribe Gaming Commission ("Tribal Gaming Commission").  

Under the Tribal Gaming Ordinance in effect at all times during this investigation, gambling is 

lawful only if operated by the Tribe as a Tribal enterprise for the benefit of the members of its 

community.  Only the Tribe's Akwesasne Mohawk Casino and Mohawk Bingo Palace are 

authorized and regulated gambling locations on the Tribe's lands. 

 3. The Failure of the Defendants to Obtain Permission to Operate a Gambling  
  Operation 
   
 Michael Hoenig, Esq. of the National Indian Gaming Commission, Washington, D.C., 

and Todd Papineau, Executive Director of the Saint Regis Mohawk Tribe's Gaming Commission 

will testify about the above regulatory programs mandated by federal statutes and rules, and the 

Tribal Gaming Ordinance.  Both will also testify that none of the defendants obtained the 
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permission of the federal and Tribal authorities to operate a gambling business, or to transport or 

possess gambling devices on Tribal lands.  Papineau will testify that defendant Laughing had 

approached Tribal Council in 2007 and 2010 about a tribal gaming management contract for a 

Poker Room at Laughing's property (439 State Route 37, Hogansburg - ultimately the site of 

Three Feathers Casino), but was rejected both times.  Corleen Jacco, the Saint Regis Mohawk 

Tribe Tribal Clerk, is expected to testify that as a matter of tribal record, the property at 439 State 

Route 11, Hogansburg, is owned by Anthony Laughing, Sr.  Jacco will further testify that 

defendants Gray, Jock, Square and Laughing are not formally members of the Tribe, the latter 

three - Square, Gray and Laughing - having withdrawn their memberships in 2007, 2009 and 

2010, respectively. 

  Stacy Harvey, Esq., of the New York Racing Commission will testify, in part as fact 

witness and in part as expert witness, that at no time did any person involved with the All-Inn 

Poker Room or the Three Feathers Casino obtain the permission of her agency to conduct a 

gambling operation or possess gambling devices at the facility at 437 State Route 37, 

Hogansburg, New York.  The government anticipates that Harvey will testify that the electronic 

gambling devices observed in Three Feathers Casino were present and operated in violation of 

New York law. 

 While Three Feathers Casino was organized by members of one of two longhouses 

(traditional community groups) on the Saint Regis Mohawk Reservation, the Kanienkehaka 

Kaianerehkowa Kanonhsesne (People of the Way)6 longhouse is not the federally-recognized 

Saint Regis Mohawk Tribe. 

                                                      
6  For ease in courtroom reference at trial, the government will refer to the longhouse as the People of the 
Way Longhouse. 
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 The government will also introduce evidence that in 2008, defendant Laughing took 

affirmative steps to plan creation of a casino in the location that would eventually become Three 

Feathers Casino in 2011.  He solicited the assistance of Mike Newell and Arnie Cooper, both 

persons knowledgeable with the Indian gaming industry.  Newell and Cooper dropped the project 

lead by Laughing and defendant Gray when it became apparent that they had no intention of 

seeking approval from the NIGC or any other regulatory authority.  Newell and Cooper were 

aware of Laughing's disqualification under IGRA from being involved in or owning a gaming 

establishment due to his prior federal felony convictions (involving illegal gambling).  

 The government's evidence will show that defendant Laughing established the All-Inn 

Lounge and Poker Room in 2010, and that the decline of that gambling operation under the 

pressure of Tribal orders to cease and desist, led to the creation of Three Feathers Casino. 

Laughing had an organizational role until the door of the casino were ready to open to the public 

in July 2011.  Though Laughing was disqualified by conviction from being involved in any way 

with lawful gambling, he aided and abetted the illegal operation by setting into motion, providing 

a facility, and sharing in the profits - first by a daily fee per gambling device and later a 

percentage of the casino's hold. 

 4. Placement of Gambling Devices at Three Feathers Casino  

 Several of the owners of the gambling devices will testify and confirm that the machines 

were in fact, devices with which one is intended to place bets and gamble money in a game of 

chance, and were leased to defendant Joseph Hight d/b/a NEX Gaming d/b/a Games and 

Gadgets, or directly to Three Feathers Casino through its General Manager Philip Cook, or both, 

between approximately July 13, 2011 and September 10, 2012.  These gambling device owners 

include: Milton Almeida, Centurion Gaming; Didier Collette, Chief Operating Officer, SED, 
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Inc.; Robert Mosley, owner, Frontier/Gateway Gaming; Jean-Francois Bertrand, Chief Operating 

Officer, Technology Exclusives, Inc.; Ming (Bill) Liu, owner, BilLabs and UR Gaming, LLC; 

and James Gibbs, a private person who invested in 40 electronic devices under the control of 

defendant Hight.  Of these vendors, Almeida, Liu, and Gibbs actually went to Three Feathers 

Casino, observed its operations, and spoke with defendants Gray, Square, Jock, Laughing, and 

Hight. 

 This was no backroom operation.  The government's evidence by Three Feathers Casino's 

own business records and those of game vendors, and vendor and insider witness testimony is 

that it opened on July 13, 2011 with approximately 455 electronic gambling devices and 100 

employees.  Lead investigator Special Agent Juan Adames, Homeland Security Investigations, 

Massena, New York, is expected to testify that approximately $2.0 million dollars were played 

through the gambling devices and $1.09 invested from outside the United States and within the 

community until the casino "closed for remodeling" on or about September 12, 2012.  Special 

Agent Adames will testify that the exact numbers are impossible to know because the business 

was run nearly entirely on cash. 

 Almeida, from Oklahoma, will testify that he was approached and assured by defendant 

Hight and others that the Longhouse was a federally-recognized Tribe.  Almeida placed sixty 

electronic gambling devices at Three Feathers Casino in approximately August 2010.  He 

observed control of the Three Feathers Casino by a group of a few men called the "Men's 

Council," who he and other witnesses will identify as defendants Square, Jock, Gray, and a 

fourth person named Lonnie Thompson.  Almeida will testify about his written and telephone 

conversations with Hight and other matters.  His company provided 60 gambling machines 
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which were operational on July 13, 2011, and 15 of them remained operational until Three 

Feathers Casino closed on or about September 10, 2012. 

 Like Almeida, Bil Liu, from Atlanta, Georgia, was approached and brought in to the deal 

at Three Feathers Casino by defendant Hight in early 2011.  Liu also had direct contact with the 

Men's Council defendants (Jock, Square and Gray), and defendants Laughing and Hight.  Liu 

will testify about the nature of the gambling devices there placed.  Also like Almeida, Liu 

became aware of some of the investors in the Casino from outside the United States. 

 Joseph Kirk, President of Red River West and manager of Crosswinds Consultants, Las 

Vegas, Nevada, will testify that he placed machines in the Three Feathers Casino in 2011 also 

based on the sales pitch made by Hight that the People of the Way longhouse was recognized by 

the federal government. 

 Gary Green, a person with broad gambling industry experience, will testify that he was 

first contacted by Anthony Laughing, Sr., about the prospect of opening a casino in Laughing's 

55,000 square foot building in which Three Feathers Casino was eventually operated.  He told 

defendant Hight that the Longhouse group was seeking machines but were not legal so were 

"gray market," but Hight was unfazed and nonetheless put together deals that brought in 

hundreds of electronic gambling devices.  Green served as a paid consultant to Three Feathers 

Casino and the Men's Council, and has extensive knowledge of the operation set into motion by 

defendant Hight, and its control by the Men's Council and an overseas investor, Simon Siniora.       

    SED Chief Operations Officer Didier Collette was also pursued by Hight who 

persuaded to place electronic gambling devices into Three Feathers Casino.  When SED's 

Service Manager, Regina Houston, went to Three Feathers Casino in December 2012 to retrieve 

the SED machines, she dealt directly with defendant Square. 
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 Dewayne Johnson is another gambling industry sales person who defendant Hight 

persuaded to have clients, such as Spin and Wins, LLC, d/b/a Crown Gaming, place machines in 

Three Feathers Casino. 

 5. The Men's Council and Operation of Three Feathers Casino 

 The government's evidence will be that defendants Square, Jock and Gray shared a status 

or identity as the "Men's Council" as described by testimony of employees within and records 

seized from Three Feathers Casino, the testimony of Saint Regis Mohawk Police Investigator 

Tina Sunday and other witness-members of the Mohawk community, and federal court and other 

legal documents filed by the defendants wherein they alternately use their names in Mohawk and 

the English language.  The defendants as individuals and under the Men's Council moniker have 

publicized their affiliation to and control of the Three Feathers Casino gambling operation.  They 

have consistently sought media attention and declared that they are not subject to federal, tribal 

and state laws, including gambling, tax and currency reporting laws.  In fact, even today there is 

a large billboard on the Reservation's main highway advertising Three Feathers Casino and "Tax 

Free Winnings."  According to defendants Square and Jock, they and the illegal casino are 

sovereign from United States, Tribal and State regulation. 

 Casino insiders Bonnie McDonald, former Finance Officer, and Donna Arquette, a 

former manager, will testify about some of the Three Feathers business records, the extent of 

control exercised by the Men's Council over the facility, and defendant Hight's integral role in 

procuring and maintaining gambling machines.  Kenneth Westort, a colleague of Hight's and his 

man on location, will also testify about the operation of Three Feathers Casino from the ground 

up.  Westort and Hight had been involved since mid-2010. 
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 6. Undercover Operations 

 Through 2010 and 2011, Tribal, State and federal law enforcement joined forces in trying 

to address this problem without community disruption.  There were three undercover law 

enforcement operations undertaken.  The first in May 2010 resulted in videotape of an illegal 

poker operation in the All-Inn Poker Room.  While the agents played poker, Special Agent 

Russell Linstad observed what appeared to be slot machines in an adjacent room.  A second joint 

undercover operation occurred on December 3, 2011, at which time federal agents again 

videotaped the inside of what was now Three Feathers Casino.  They played the gambling 

devices and received tickets exchangeable for cash.  Attempts by the Saint Regis Mohawk Tribe 

to close Three Feathers Casino failed.  Federal agents conducted a third undercover operation in 

April 2012.  They again played and videotaped the electronic gambling devices.  

B. Evidence Considerations 

 1. Defendants' Statements and Emails 

 Several witnesses will testify about statements made to them or written to them by email 

or letter from one or more of the defendants or co-conspirators.  A defendant's own statement, 

whether oral or in writing, such as an email, is admissible non-hearsay, under FRE 801(d)(2)(B). 

 2. Conversations Between the Defendants and Co-Conspirators     

 The government anticipates offering evidence of conversations between the defendants 

and several co-conspirators, as well as conversations between co-conspirators.  Federal Rule of 

Evidence 801(d)(2)(E) establishes that a statement is not hearsay if it is offered against an 

opposing party and was made by the party's co-conspirator “during the course and in furtherance 

of the conspiracy.”  The courts have recognized that FRE 801(d)(2)(E) applies to a co-

conspirator's statement made during a conspiracy regardless of whether the conspiracy has been 
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charged in the indictment.  United States v. Barnes, 604 F.2d 121, 156 (2d Cir. 1979) (where 

parties are engaged in a "concert of action" or "joint venture" involving criminal conduct); 

United States v. Doulin, 538 F.2d 466, 471 (2d Cir. 1976); United States v. Callaway, 524 F.2d 

609, 613 (9th Cir. 1975) (co-conspirators' statements allowed that implicated the defendant in an 

18 U.S.C. 1955 gambling prosecution); 44 A.L.R. Fed. 627.  Such statements are admissible so 

long as the government demonstrates, by a preponderance of the evidence, that (1) a conspiracy 

exists, (2) the declarant and the defendant were members of the conspiracy, and (3) the 

statements were made during the existence of the conspiracy and in furtherance of the 

conspiracy.  United States v. Diaz, 176 F.3d 52, 82 (2d Cir. 1999) (holding that the Court may 

consider the statements in making a determination); United States v. Lyles, 593 F.2d 182, 194 

(2d Cir. 1979).  

 While the practicalities of proof may require that a particular statement be admitted 

subject to connection, that is, subject to an adequate showing of the above elements, "if at the 

close of the government's case the connection has not been proved, the court must, upon motion, 

strike the insufficiently connected item and direct the jury to disregard it."  United States v. 

Ziegler, 583 F.2d 77, 80 (2d Cir. 1978); Lyles, supra; United States v. Bruno, 873 F.2d 555, 562 

(2d Cir. 1989).   

 Preliminary questions as to whether a proffered statement meets the requirements of Rule 

801(d)(2)(E) are to be determined by the trial court by a preponderance of the evidence.  See, 

e.g., United States v. Maldonado-Rivera, 92 F.2d 934, 958-59 (2d Cir. 1990).  In addition to the 

more obvious types of communications to implement a conspiratorial operation, statements 

between coconspirators that may be found to be in furtherance of the conspiracy include 

statements that provide reassurance, or seek to induce a conspirator's assistance, or serve to foster 
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trust and cohesiveness, or inform each other as to the progress or status of the conspiracy.  Id.  

The "fair preponderance of the evidence" standard for admitting co-conspirator statements is 

lower than for statements which would go toward proving a conspiracy charged in the 

indictment.  "A judge may thus consistently find that the evidence (even including admissible 

hearsay declarations) did not meet the higher test required for submission of a conspiracy count 

to a jury, although the independent evidence did meet the lower test required for admission of the 

declaration."  United States v. Stanchich, 550 F.2d 1294, 1297-99 (2d Cir. 1977).        

 Statements of co-conspirators are admissible against a defendant even where the co-

conspirators are not also defendants at the trial.  United States v. Celaya-Garcia, 583 F.2d 210 

(5th Cir. 1978); United States v. John, 508 F.2d 1134 (8th Cir.).  “Only slight evidence is required 

to link another defendant with a conspiracy once a conspiracy has been shown to exist.”  United 

States v. Aleskerova, 300 F.3d 286, 292 (2d Cir. 2002) (quoting United States v. Abelis, 146 F.3d 

73, 80 (2d Cir. 1998)).  "[A] co-conspirator's statements could themselves be probative of the 

existence of a conspiracy and the participation of both the defendant and the declarant in the 

conspiracy."  Bourjaily v. United States, 483 U.S. 171, 180 (1987) (out of court statements that 

co-conspirator had a "friend" who had agreed to buy cocaine, and who would meet informant 

and take possession of drugs, corroborated by defendant's appearance at appointed place, 

established existence of conspiracy and defendant's participation, and that defendant was "friend" 

mentioned by co-conspirator); Aiello, 900 F.2d at 533 (ledger containing entries of narcotics 

transactions was self-authenticating and properly admitted even if entries were not made by 

defendant). 

 The Supreme Court in Bourjaily also concluded that co-conspirator’s statements did not 

implicate the Confrontation Clause of the Constitution and that the government did not need to 
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demonstrate the unavailability of the declarant nor present evidence concerning the reliability of 

the statements.  Id at 182 (holding that co-conspirator hearsay exception is firmly rooted in 

American jurisprudence); United States v. Saget, 377 F.3d 223, 224 (2d Cir. 2004). 

 3. Recorded Recollections 

 One or more government witnesses may request to review records, emails or reports to 

refresh their recollection.  Under Federal Rule of Evidence 803(5), a recorded recollection is 

admissible if the record: “(A) is on a matter the witness knew about but now cannot recall well 

enough to testify fully and accurately; (B) was made or adopted by the witness when the matter 

was fresh in the witness’ memory; and (C) accurately reflects the witness’ knowledge.”  Fed. R. 

Evid. 803(5) (“If admitted, the record may be read into evidence but may be received as an 

exhibit only if offered by an adverse party”).  For example, in United States v. Garcia, 282 Fed. 

Appx. 14, 23-24 (2d Cir. 2008), the Court held that arrest reports and booking sheets were 

properly admitted through the officers that generated the reports because (1) the officers could 

not remember the events described in the reports, (2) the reports were prepared at or near in time 

to the events and (3) the reports correctly reflected the officer’s knowledge of the events.  See 

also, Parker v. Reda, 327 F.3d 211, 213 (2d Cir. 2003). 

 4. Undercover Video Recordings 

 As stated above, the government will introduce evidence of undercover video recordings. 

In order to admit video or audio recordings under Federal Rules of Evidence 901, the 

government must offer clear and convincing evidence that the recordings are authentic and 

accurate.  United States v. Fuentes, 563 F.2d 527, 531-32 (2d Cir. 1977).  The government can 

satisfy this burden by offering evidence that the recording equipment was functioning properly at 

the time of the recording and proper chain of custody.  Id.  Although there is no requirement to 
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do so, the government may also authenticate the tapes through the testimony of the individual 

wearing the recording device or from an individual that heard the conversations at the time they 

were made.  United States v. Tropeano, 252 F.3d 653, 661 (2d Cir. 2001) (noting tapes may be 

authenticated either by “establishing a chain of custody,” or by “testimony by a 

contemporaneous witness”).  Additionally, while there may be inaudible portions of the audio 

recordings, the recording is admissible so long as the inaudible portions of the recordings are not 

so severe that they render the recordings untrustworthy.  United States v. Byrant, 480 F.2d 785, 

788-90 (2d Cir. 1973). 

 5. Business Records 
 
 The government will seek introduce documents seized from the premises of Three 

Feathers Casino as properly certified records of a regularly conducted business activity under 

FRE Rules 803(6), which states: 

A memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, in any form, of acts, events, 
conditions, opinions ... made at or near the time by ... a person with knowledge, if 
kept in the course of a regularly conducted business activity, and if it was the 
regular practice of that business activity to make the memorandum, report, record 
or data compilation, all as shown by the testimony of the custodian or other 
qualified witness...unless the source of information or the method or 
circumstances of preparation indicate lack of trustworthiness. 
 

Fed. R. Evid. 803(6).  The Second Circuit has adopted a “generous view” of the business records 

exception and favors admission of such records if they have any probative value.  United States 

v. Strother, 49 F.3d 869, 874 (2d Cir. 1995); United States v. Kaiser, 609 F.3d 556, 574 (2d Cir. 

2010).  To lay a proper foundation for a business record, the offering party must establish 

through a custodian or other qualified witness that the record was “kept in the course of a 

regularly conducted business activity and also that is was the regular practice of that business 

activity to make the record.”  United States v. Williams, 205 F.3d 23, 34-35 (2d Cir. 2000) 
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(noting that the custodian need not have personal knowledge of the actual creation of the 

document).  “A business record need not be mechanically generated to be part of a ‘regular 

practice.’” Kaiser, 609 F.3d at 575; United States v. Ford, 435 F.3d 204, 215 (2d Cir. 2006) 

(holding that a calendar was admissible as a business record). 

 The government intends to offer the evidence seized from Three Feathers Casino to not 

only show that gambling activity occurred but also to show the defendants' association with the 

illegal business and with one another in the course of their operation of an illegal gambling 

business.  United States v. Al-Moayad, 545 F.3d 139, 176 (2nd Cir. 2008) (holding that evidence 

of an address book was not hearsay because the government did not offer the phone numbers to 

prove that it was the defendant’s number, rather to establish an association with other 

individuals). 

 The government will seek to introduce certified copies of records of the regularly 

conducted business activities of three banks and the gaming records of one company (Spin and 

Win/Crown Gaming) under FRE Rule 803(6), as properly certified7 and therefore self-

authenticating under FRE Rule 902(11).  

 Homeland Security Investigations Senior Special Agent Juan Adames' testimony will 

include information that he obtained from the above certified records, as well as the testimony 

                                                      
7  Under Federal Rule of Evidence 902(11), extrinsic evidence of authenticity is not 

required for certified domestic records of regularly conducted activity.  A copy of a business 
record is admissible into evidence if it is accompanied by a written declaration of its custodian or 
other qualified person certifying that: (1) the record was made at or near the time of the 
occurrence of the matters set forth by a person with knowledge of those matters, (2) was kept in 
the course of the regularly conducted activity, and (3) was made by the regularly conducted 
activity as a regular practice. 
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and records of witnesses, and material seized pursuant to federal search warrant during his 

testimony. 

IV. SPECIAL LEGAL ISSUES 

A. The Government's First Motion in Limine: Requiring Defendants To Disclose 
Immediately Whether They Intend to Rely on a Good Faith/Advice of Counsel Defense at Trial; 
Requiring Them to Produce Any Relevant Discovery Relating to Such Intent; and to Preclude 
Defendants, During the Government's Case-in-Chief, from Making Any Reference to and Cross-
Examining Any Government Witnesses Regarding the Opinion Letters8 
  
 The legal basis for the government's first motion in limine is fully set forth in the record 

(Dkt. 116).  The Court has not formally ruled on the motion.  The government requests that the 

Court rule on the motion before the swearing of the jury. 

B. Evidence of Prior Acts of Defendant Anthony Laughing in the Government's Rule 404(b) 
Notice 
 
 The government has filed a FRE 404(b) notice about the prior acts of defendant Anthony 

Laughing - specifically his in-court admissions to illegal gambling conduct which formed the 

basis of his December 14, 1989 change of plea before the Hon. Neal McCurn in United States v. 

Anthony Laughing and Gerald Laughing, 89-CR-146.  Dkt. 113.  No defendant has formally 

objected to the government's notice. 

C. Pro Se Representation of Defendant Square, Role of Standby Counsel 
 
 Defendant Square has decided to represent himself in defense of the Indictment, despite 

the Court's counseling of him about the dangers of self-representation.  The Court has appointed 

                                                      
8   On October 16, 2013, defendant Hight in his pretrial submissions, provided notice of intent to assert in 
his case-in-chief an "advice of counsel" defense.  See, Dkt. 141, Exhibit List listing the Daniel Pease, Esq. 
"opinion letter" and Daniel Pease as its witness; and Dkt. 145, Jury Instructions, Sands, Modern Jury 
Instructions, Criminal ¶8.04 - Advice of Counsel.  As of this date, the government has received no 
discovery from defendant Hight on this issue - or any discovery. 
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standby counsel, Dennis Schlenker, Esq., to take up the reins if defendant Square changes his 

mind, or is required to leave the courtroom due to disruption of the proceedings. 

D. Evidence of a Poker Operation and Preparation for Three Feathers Casino, As 
 Described in the Government's Rule 404(b) Notices 
 
 The government filed documents captioned FRE 404(b) notices (Dkts. 110 and 115) in an 

abundance of caution without conceding that their subjects are, in fact, "other acts" requiring 

such notice.  These regard the All-Inn Lounge and Poker Room as an illegal gambling (poker) 

business whose gambling assets transitioned into operation at Three Feathers Casino, and the 

2008 preparations by defendants Laughing and Gray, and others, for the opening of the casino at 

the same location.  None of the defendants has formally objected to the government's notices. 

CONCLUSION 

 The government respectfully submits its trial memorandum and reserves the right to 

submit one or more point briefs if necessitated by issues arising at trial. 

 RICHARD S. HARTUNIAN 
 UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 
 
 

      BY:   /S/ Elizabeth Horsman___________ 
 Assistant United States Attorney 
 Bar Roll No. 515350 
 
 
 /S/ Miroslav Lovric_____________                                                       
 Assistant United States Attorney 
 Bar Roll No. 301490 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I hereby certify that on October 16, 2013, I electronically filed with the NDNY 

Clerk of the District Court using CM/ECF system the above-reference document(s) in connection 

with the above-referenced case.  The CM/ECF system automatically sent electronic notifications 

of such filing to the attorneys of record in this case, as maintained by the District Court Clerk’s 

Office, AND who are properly registered in the CM/ECF system for the NDNY as required 

pursuant to NDNY General Order #22. 

 In addition, a copy was mailed to Pro Se defendant Square at the place of his 

incarceration. 

        /s/ Elizabeth A. Horsman       
       Elizabeth A. Horsman 
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